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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 
  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 

Plaintiff, 
v. 

 
BOROUGH OF WOODCLIFF LAKE 
and WOODCLIFF LAKE ZONING 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT, 
 

Defendants. 

 
 
Civil Action No. 
 
 
COMPLAINT 
 

  
 
 The United States of America, by its undersigned attorneys, files this 

Complaint and alleges: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The United States of America brings this civil action against defendants 

the Borough of Woodcliff Lake (the “Borough”) and the Woodcliff Lake Zoning Board 

of Adjustment (collectively, “Defendants”), for violations of the Religious Land Use 

and Institutionalized Persons Act of 2000 (“RLUIPA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000cc–2000cc-

5, based on the Defendants’ denial of Valley Chabad’s variance application to 

construct a house of worship.   
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2.  Valley Chabad has operated a house of worship out of a house on a 1.27-

acre site in the Borough since 1998, and the space is no longer adequate to serve its 

religious needs.  The United States alleges that Defendants took actions that 

prevented Valley Chabad from purchasing alternative sites in the Borough over an 

eight-year period, and then denied Valley Chabad’s efforts to expand on its current 

site, thus imposing a substantial burden on its religious exercise in violation of 

RLUIPA.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1331 and 1345, and 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-2(f). 

4. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because the events giving rise 

to this action occurred in the District of New Jersey. 

PARTIES 

5. The Borough is a municipality in Bergen County, New Jersey.   

6. The Borough has a six-member borough council, elected at large to serve 

staggered three-year terms, and a mayor elected to a four-year term.  The council 

serves all legislative functions in the Borough; the mayor may cast a vote in the event 

of a tie.    

7. The Borough has the authority to regulate and restrict the use of land 

and structures within its borders. 

8. Defendant the Woodcliff Lake Zoning Board of Adjustment (“Zoning 

Board”) is an agency of the Borough.  The seven-member Zoning Board rules on 
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variances applications, interprets the Chapter 380 of the Municipal Code, which 

governs zoning in the Borough, and hears appeals from enforcement of the zoning 

code.   

9. For purposes of RLUIPA, the Borough and the Zoning Board each 

constitute a “government.”  42 U.S.C. §§ 2000cc-5(4)(A)(i), (ii). 

10. The Borough is responsible for the acts and omissions of its agents and 

agencies, including the Zoning Board.  

FACTS 

Valley Chabad 

11. Valley Chabad is a non-profit entity incorporated and existing under the 

laws of the State of New Jersey.  Valley Chabad is a “religious assembly or 

institution” within the meaning of RLUIPA.  42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(a)(1).  

12. Valley Chabad is an Orthodox Jewish congregation founded in 1996 and 

affiliated with the Chabad-Lubavitch Hassidic movement.  Valley Chabad is part of 

a religious tradition of Chabad houses that host traditional prayer services and serve 

as an inclusive religious and cultural center for the nearby Jewish community.  

Chabad houses provide community members with a single home for all activities that 

adherents believe are a part of religious life.   

13. The Valley Chabad community is centered in and around the Borough 

of Woodcliff Lake.  

14. The Valley Chabad community adheres to a holistic approach to worship 

in which the community prays together, provides religious education, hosts social 
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events, conducts bar and bat mitzvahs, and offers other lectures and learning 

opportunities at a single location.  The Valley Chabad community believes that a 

location that serves only one of those functions is insufficient to accommodate the 

exercise of its religious beliefs.  

15. Valley Chabad places particular importance on a mikvah, a ritual 

immersion bath for women that the Valley Chabad community believes is central to 

Orthodox Jewish life.     

16. The Valley Chabad community believes that the Torah is central to a 

Jewish community and that adherents should travel to the Torah.  Valley Chabad 

believes that moving the Torah for use at fewer than three prayer services creates 

complications under Jewish law.   

17. Since 2000, Rabbi Dov Drizin has led Valley Chabad.  

18. In the early 2000s, the Valley Chabad community, through 

conversations between Rabbi Drizin and a Borough official, became aware of concerns 

that its presence would transform the Borough into a town similar to Monsey, New 

York.  The Borough official asked Rabbi Drizin for a letter that would explain how 

Valley Chabad differed from the religious community in Monsey. 

19. Monsey, New York is a municipality with a large observant Jewish 

population located approximately seven miles from the Borough.   

The Subject Property at 100 Overlook Drive 

20. 100 Overlook Drive is a 1.27-acre parcel of land in Woodcliff Lake 

located a district zoned R-30 residential.   
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21. The Garden State Parkway, which is owned and operated by the New 

Jersey Turnpike Authority, borders 100 Overlook Drive to the east.  To the west of 

the property, across Overlook Drive, sit two private homes and Temple Emanuel, a 

conservative Jewish synagogue that occupies a fifteen-acre lot.  The northern edge of 

the property consists of vacant, wooded land owned by the New Jersey Turnpike 

Authority that serves as a buffer from the Garden State Parkway.  The property’s 

southern edge borders a small farm. 

22. Valley Chabad has used the house located at 100 Overlook Drive, which 

is approximately 3,194 square feet and one-and-a-half stories tall, since 1998.   

23. The Valley Chabad community cannot conduct the activities central to 

its religious worship at Valley Chabad’s current facility located at 100 Overlook 

Drive.  Hebrew school classes, certain holiday services, community events, weddings, 

and many bar and bat mitzvahs are held offsite at various rental locations. 

24. The facility located at 100 Overlook Drive does not have a mikvah. 

25. The Valley Chabad community must move its Torah to other locations 

for certain bar mitzvahs and holidays.  

26. Valley Chabad and its members cannot fully and adequately practice 

their religion due to the constraints of its current facility at 100 Overlook Drive.    

Attempts to Relocate 

27. The Valley Chabad community began to search for a new location for a 

new house of worship within the Borough in or around 2005.    
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28. Since that time, the Borough’s Municipal Code has prohibited houses of 

worship from all zoning districts other than residential zones.  In residential zones, 

the Municipal Code allows houses of worship as a conditional permitted use so long 

as an applicant meets nine requirements, including a minimum lot size of three acres, 

one parking space for every three seats, plus one space for each staff member, a 400-

foot lot width, as well as other requirements regarding building setbacks, building 

height, and surface coverage.  

29. On or around September 25, 2006, Valley Chabad entered into a contract 

to purchase a 3.89-acre property located at 75 Werimus Road in Woodcliff Lake.  After 

a Borough Council member expressed interest in the Borough’s acquisition of the 

property by eminent domain, Valley Chabad canceled the contract.   

30. In or around 2010, the Borough acquired the property located at 75 

Werimus Road. 

31. Valley Chabad then negotiated with the owners of three adjacent 

properties located at 28 County Road, 34 County Road, and 40 County Road (together, 

the “County Road Properties”) in the Borough that together exceeded 3 acres.  In or 

around May 2011, Valley Chabad entered into a contract to purchase the property 

located at 28 County Road.   

32. After Valley Chabad began to negotiate with the owners of the County 

Road Properties, the Borough expressed interest in creating a zoning overlay that 

would include the County Road Properties and permit the development of townhomes 

on those properties.   
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33. On or around September 21, 2012, the seller of 28 County Road canceled 

the contract of sale with Valley Chabad.  Upon information and belief, the seller 

canceled the contract to obtain more money for the property from developers of 

townhomes. 

34. The Borough enacted an ordinance that permitted a “Townhome 

Overlay District” on July 14, 2014. 

35. There are currently townhomes on the County Road Properties.   

36. In late 2012, Valley Chabad began to explore relocating to Galaxy 

Gardens, a 2.1-acre property located at 223 Woodcliff Ave in the Borough that was in 

a residential zone but did not border any residential properties.   

37. On June 19, 2013, Valley Chabad entered into a contract to purchase 

Galaxy Gardens.   

38. The same day that news of Valley Chabad’s planned purchase of Galaxy 

Gardens became public, a web page with the headline “Jewish Regional Hub to 

Woodcliff Lake” was created, featuring a picture of two rabbis praying that was taken 

from Valley Chabad’s website.  

39. A group called Concerned Neighbors & Residents of Woodcliff Lake, Inc. 

formed to oppose the purchase of Galaxy Gardens.   

40. Valley Chabad’s planned relocation to Galaxy Gardens was discussed 

during an October 21, 2013 Mayor and Council meeting.   

41. According to the minutes of the October 21, 2013 Mayor and Council 

meeting, one council member cited “scare tactics” used in mailings about Valley 
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Chabad’s plans for Galaxy Gardens.  Another Council member said of the proposed 

purchase: “We are Woodcliff Lake residents and we do not want the character of the 

town to change.”  A third council member asked the Borough to “try and save this 

piece of property and use it to beautify and enhance our town.”   

42. Upon information and belief, the Borough had not taken any steps to 

acquire Galaxy Gardens prior to Valley Chabad’s efforts to purchase the Galaxy 

Gardens property.   

43. At the end of the October 21, 2013 meeting, the Council voted to 

authorize a grant for funding to acquire Galaxy Gardens for use as open space.  By 

early 2014, the Borough expressed interest in acquiring Galaxy Gardens by eminent 

domain. 

44. In late 2013 or early 2014, Valley Chabad’s contract to purchase Galaxy 

Gardens was canceled.   

45. On February 1, 2018, the Borough council voted 4 to 3, with Mayor 

Carlos Rendo casting the tie-breaking vote, to approve the $1.65 million purchase of 

Galaxy Gardens by the Borough.   

Valley Chabad’s Zoning Board Application 

46. By 2014, Valley Chabad believed that it would be unable to relocate 

within Woodcliff Lake and began to explore expansion on its existing property at 100 

Overlook Drive.   
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47. In October 2014, Valley Chabad submitted a variance application to the 

Zoning Board to remove the existing 3,194-square-foot structure at 100 Overlook 

Drive and to construct a new 17,728-square-foot house of worship.   

48. The proposed house of worship included a mikvah and space for holiday 

services, Hebrew school classes, weddings, bar and bat mitzvahs, and community 

events.   

49. Valley Chabad’s October 2014 application to the Zoning Board listed five 

design waivers and fourteen variances.  The requested variances consisted of 

departures from the conditions required for houses of worship, such as the 

requirement that houses of worship sit on three acres of land and have a lot width of 

400 feet, and proposed deviations from generally applicable zoning ordinances, such 

as those that govern critical slope areas. 

50. From December 2014 to August 2016, the Zoning Board held 18 hearings 

that addressed or considered Valley Chabad’s variance application. 

51. Beginning in February 2015, an objector group called Woodcliff Lake 

Residents for Redevelopment, Inc. appeared with counsel at Zoning Board hearings 

to oppose Valley Chabad’s variance application.   

52. In 2015 and 2016, Valley Chabad revised its application at least four 

times in response to concerns expressed by Zoning Board officials and citizens at the 

hearings.  Those revisions included shrinking the proposed house of worship from 

17,728 square feet to 12,247 square feet, removing a proposed deck that would serve 

as a children’s play area, lowering the height of the building from 44 feet to 33 feet, 
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increasing setbacks from property lines, and increasing driveway widths to facilitate 

emergency vehicle access.   

53. Rabbi Dov Drizin testified at two Zoning Board hearings.  During a May 

2015 Zoning Board hearing, counsel for the objector group questioned the rabbi about 

what counsel described as Valley Chabad’s plan to “grow exponentially” and quoted 

a 2006 news article about the group’s outreach to the 13,627 Jewish individuals who 

live in the Pascack Valley area.   

54. Rabbi Drizin and other Valley Chabad witnesses testified that the 

sanctuary would rarely be used for the proposed maximum occupancy of 219 people, 

that Valley Chabad needed minimal staff while the sanctuary was in use, and other 

areas of the proposed house of worship, such as areas for religious education, would 

not be used at the same time prayer services were held in the sanctuary.   

55. During the May 2015 hearing, Rabbi Drizin expressed Valley Chabad’s 

willingness to keep attendance at the numbers proposed by Valley Chabad through 

selling tickets or pre-registration, and testified that such methods had been 

successful in the past.   

56. The only Woodcliff Lake resident who lived adjacent to 100 Overlook 

Drive, the owner of the farm immediately to the south, had no objection to Valley 

Chabad’s proposed construction or to the proposed retaining wall that would border 

his property.   

57. On August 23, 2016, the Zoning Board denied Valley Chabad’s variance 

application by a unanimous vote. 
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58. Zoning Board Resolution 16-07, of August 23, 2016, adopted October 6, 

2016, denied Valley Chabad’s variance application. 

59. Resolution 16-07 cited the “detrimental visual impact” of the proposed 

retaining wall and the adverse impact of the proposed house of worship on the 

“residential character of the neighborhood.”   

60. Resolution 16-07 stated the Zoning Board’s finding that Valley Chabad 

was “unlikely” to limit sanctuary occupancy to the proposed number of 219 and that 

“Rabbi Drizin testified that he had tried to limit occupancy with pre-registration or 

selling tickets, but such efforts were not successful.” 

61. Rabbi Drizin did not testify that prior efforts to limit occupancy were 

unsuccessful.  During the May 2015 meeting, Rabbi Drizin testified that, as Valley 

Chabad had grown, it had sold tickets or asked for preregistration for holidays and 

when they learned in advance that attendance would exceed capacity, the group 

moved to a different location.  

62. Resolution 16-07 included the Zoning Board’s finding that the proposed 

73 parking spaces were inadequate for the 383 people that could hypothetically 

occupy the proposed house of worship.   

63. Valley Chabad proposed a maximum occupancy of 219 people, not 383 

people.  Valley Chabad agreed to limit occupancy to 219 people, including by 

staggering event start times, requiring pre-registration for events, and holding events 

at another location if necessary.   
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64. In support of the finding that 73 parking spaces were inadequate, 

Resolution 16-07 also included the Zoning Board’s finding that “[t]here is no street 

parking on Overlook Drive.”   

65. Parking was permitted on Overlook Drive when Valley Chabad 

submitted its variance application in 2014.  In or around March 2016, the Borough 

enacted a resolution that prohibited parking on Overlook Drive.     

66. Resolution 16-07 concluded that the proposed development was “likely 

to cause additional erosion and flooding of the Muskquapsink Brook.”  The Zoning 

Board’s engineer previously testified that Valley Chabad’s proposed storm water 

management plan complied with all state requirements. 

67. Resolution 16-07 stated that Valley Chabad had not obtained the 

required consent and approval of the New Jersey Turnpike Authority, which owns 

the land that borders 100 Overlook Drive to the east and north, for the proposed 

drainage plan.  The chairperson of the Zoning Board had previously expressed her 

understanding that the New Jersey Turnpike Authority would evaluate Valley 

Chabad’s proposal after the Zoning Board had decided the variance application.   

68. On prior occasions, the Zoning Board has approved variance 

applications conditioned on approval from other public entities.  

69. In Resolution 16-07, the Zoning Board suggested six alternative 

properties for Valley Chabad’s proposed relocation.  One property was not located in 

Woodcliff Lake, another was not three acres, one occupied a wetland area where 

building was not permitted, one was unsuited for individuals who walk to religious 
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services, and, upon information and belief, the others were not on the market at the 

time Valley Chabad submitted its variance application in 2014.   

71. The Zoning Board’s processing of Valley Chabad’s variance application, 

and the manner in which it evaluated the application, has caused Valley Chabad to 

suffer delay, expense, and uncertainty regarding its efforts to obtain approval for its 

house of worship. 

72. The Zoning Board’s denial of Valley Chabad’s variance application has 

caused Valley Chabad to suffer significant financial loss, including, but not limited 

to, attorneys’ fees and professional fees. 

73. Valley Chabad had a reasonable expectation that its variance 

application for its house of worship would be approved by the Zoning Board.   

74. Due to the lack of residentially zoned property for sale in the Borough 

and to the actions of the Borough recounted above, there are no readily available 

alternatives to the 100 Overlook Drive property for Valley Chabad to engage in 

religious activity in the Borough.   

75. The variances requested by Valley Chabad in its variance application do 

not present a threat to any compelling governmental interest of the Borough. 

76. The Zoning Board’s denial of Valley Chabad’s variance application was 

absolute.   

77. The Zoning Board could have approved Valley Chabad’s variance 

application with conditions that addressed the Borough’s purported concerns about 

traffic, parking, erosion, flooding, and other supposed impacts, but did not do so. 
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78. The Zoning Board did not use the least restrictive means of addressing 

its purported concerns about traffic, parking, erosion, flooding, and other supposed 

impacts when it denied Valley Chabad’s variance application.   

79. Valley Chabad’s efforts to establish a place of worship in the Borough 

constitutes “religious exercise” within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-5(7). 

 80. The Zoning Board made an “individualized assessment” of Valley 

Chabad’s variance application to establish a house of worship within the meaning of 

42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(a)(2)(C). 

 81. The Zoning Board’s denial of Valley Chabad’s variance application 

affects “commerce among the several States” within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000cc(a)(2)(B).   
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RLUIPA – Substantial Burden 

82. The allegations set forth in the preceding paragraphs are incorporated 

by reference. 

83. Valley Chabad’s inability to relocate within Woodcliff Lake and the 

denial of its variance application, by the actions of the Defendants, have imposed a 

substantial burden on its religious exercise in violation of RLUIPA, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000cc(a)(1). 

84. The policies and practices of the Zoning Board and the Borough in 

handling religious land use applications give rise to the likelihood of future unlawful 

conduct and the imposition of a substantial burden in the handling of future religious 

land use applications.  

 

WHEREFORE, the United States seeks that this Court enter an order that: 

1. Declares that the Defendants’ denial of Valley Chabad’s variance application, 

as alleged herein, violates RLUIPA;  

2.  Enjoins the Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, successors and all  

other persons in concert or participation with them, from imposing a substantial 

burden on the religious exercise of Valley Chabad and its members, and any other 

religious entities and institutions and their members, that is not narrowly tailored to 

serve a compelling governmental interest;  
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3.  Requires the Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, successors, and all 

other persons in concert or participation with them, to:  

a.  Take actions necessary to restore, as nearly as practicable, 

Valley Chabad and its members to the position they would 

have been in but for Defendants’ unlawful conduct, including 

but not limited to granting the necessary approvals for Valley 

Chabad to use 100 Overlook Drive as a place of worship; and,  

b.  Take actions necessary to prevent the recurrence of such 

unlawful conduct in the future, including but not limited to 

providing RLUIPA training to their personnel, establishing 

procedures to address complaints of RLUIPA violations, and 

maintaining records and submitting reports relating to 

RLUIPA compliance; and 

4.  Awards such additional relief as the interests of justice may require, together 

with the United States’ costs. 
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Dated: June 13, 2018 

Respectfully submitted, 
        

 
By: /s/ John M. Gore      
 JOHN M. GORE 
 Acting Assistant Attorney General 
 Civil Rights Division 

 
 
CRAIG CARPENITO 
United States Attorney      
 

By: /s/ Michael E. Campion          
MICHAEL E. CAMPION   
Chief, Civil Rights Unit    
Assistant United States Attorney 
970 Broad Street, Suite 700    
Newark, NJ 07102      
Phone: (973) 645-3141     
Email: michael.campion@usdoj.gov  
 

By: /s/ Susan Millenky      
SUSAN MILLENKY 
Assistant United States Attorney    
District of New Jersey      
970 Broad Street, Suite 700    
Newark, NJ 07102      
Phone: (973) 297-2067     
Email: susan.millenky@usdoj.gov   

 
      Attorneys for Plaintiff 
      United States of America 
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